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A1  INTRODUCTION & SUMMARY

A1.1  Introduction and context

Southgate and Associates were appointed by The Codd Family, the owners, to carry out a Conservation Strategy Report for Clonmines Friary, Gate House, Fortified House and Bawn Walls, Co. Wexford to provide an assessment of the building for the purposes of preparing for emergency stabilisation works and Conservation Management Plan 2015-2018.

It is important that prior to any works that the status of the building be established.  This in turn will inform future design approaches where conservation, archaeology, social and cultural issues are represented to ensure a balanced development proposal.  

The primary aims of the report are:

· To make recommendations for  recording all surviving features of archaeological and architectural significance;

· To liase with the archaeological team regarding documents and records in order to understand the site and its immediate environs, and by this means;

· To appraise and evaluate its significance and identify immediate conservation priorities (as deemed appropriate)

· To advise on immediate Emergency Conservation Works and to provide information for a preliminary Conservation Management Plan

The survey work was conducted in December 2014.
A1.2  Protection status

The building which is the focus of this report consists of Clonmines Friary, Gatehouse, Fortified House and Bawn Walls which are Recorded Monuments and are listed in the Records of Monuments and Places (RMP Ref No’s: Friary WX045 – 012003, WX045 – 012011, WX045-012004 and WX045-012002 See Appendix 2 for RMP).  Therefore notification must be sent to the Department of the Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht two months prior to the carrying out of any works to the structures (details below A.4). 
The structures at Clonmines were listed as a Protected Structures in the Record of Protected Structures (RPS), Wexford Development Plan (Ref No:  WCC0183) however they have been removed from the RPS because it is a Recorded Monument and does not require the protection on the list of Protected Structures.
A1.3 Significance of the building

Clonmines Friary and Gatehouse are part of a larger medieval town complex which is of National Significance.  The entire complex is of archaeological, historical, architectural and social interest as one of Irelands deserted medieval towns. ‘Nationally significant’ is a term that applies to structures that make a significant contribution to the architectural heritage of the country.  The levels of significance used for this survey correspond to those developed for the National Inventory of Architectural Heritage (NIAH). 
A1.4 Threats to significance

The most immediate threat to the significance of the structure is the removal of mortar by weathering exposure together with tidal erosion at the base of the East wall. Untreated vegetation growth is also having a deleterious effect on the structure in the medium term.  Exposure of the top of the walls is causing spalling and cracking and allowing moisture ingress into the core of the wall resulting in cracking and damage to and loss of fabric. Vegetation growth if untreated will cause dislodgement of stones and a general weakening of the structure due to root expansion. Should the building continue without remedial repair works this will lead to the loss of features and may lead to the eventual structural failure of the building.  

Because the building is in private ownership and part of a farm it is not intended to open the complex to the public. In view of limited funds available it will be necessary to carefully prioritise work and record the fabric to best practice standards (laser scanning). This will not only record the current condition if deterioration occurs but will also allow for careful study remotely from the site.

The building lies within a complex of medieval structures and is within the boundaries of a working farm, inappropriate development due to its location and protection status do not pose a threat to its significance at this time.

A1.5 Social and Cultural Issues

The Clonmines Friary and Gatehouse are located on the western banks of the estuarine part of the Owenduff River.   These two structures are part of a wider medieval town complex including tower houses, churches and very considerable amount of sub-surface remains which stretches over several fields which surround.  Given its significance and prominence on the river bank it is a very positive feature in the townland.  It is an unusual, unique and valuable part of ecclesiastical and Medieval archaeology in Ireland and highlights the occupation of the area from Medieval times creating an awareness of the significance of the site and its environs while providing an interesting landmark and thereby reinforcing a ‘sense of place’ and local identity.

A1.6 Research and survey methodology

To provide information for this report, historical records and maps, in addition to previous site surveys and reports, were used to establish an understanding of the history of the site and its environs and assess its potential heritage significance.  This survey work was carried out by PhD student Paul Murphy and Arnaud de Volder. The conservation principles laid out within this report reference the Granada Charter 1985, the I.C.O.M.O.S. Venice and Burra Charters, in addition to the Department of the Environment, Architectural Heritage Protection Guidelines 2004, Valetta European Convention on the Protection of Archaeological Heritage (revised) 1992 and Department of Environment, Heritage and Local Government Advice Series Ruins: the Conservation and Repair of Masonry Ruins 2010. 
The principal sources consulted were as follows: 

· Record of Monuments and Places (RMP) 

· Draft Wexford Development Plan 2015-2018
· National Inventory of Architectural Heritage

· Primary written and oral sources 
· Secondary sources (e.g. archaeological and architectural journals, local history publications, historic town directories)
Paul Murphy and Arnaud de Volder, archaeologists, are currently dedicating their PhD studies to the site (based in NUIG), they have, gathered the summary archaeological information for this report from analysis of the site and desktop research. They have also provided an independent Archaeological report. Christopher Southgate (MA FIEI MIStructE C Eng.), Conservation engineer compiled information from a visual inspection.  Ciara O’Flynn, buildings archaeologist, compiled the report.

A1.7 Extent of inspection

Inspections of the Friary and the Gate House gable were visual inspections from ground level. The Fortified House, Bawn walls and associated free standing tower will require further inspection during 2015 once ivy is removed. The upper levels of the Friary tower were inspected from the first floor of the Friary tower.

Further access will be required in early 2015 to the following areas as part of Ivy treatment and maintenance (table of priorities outlined in A5.4 table 1 ):-

· Top of free standing gable associated with Gate House  (not considered under threat  


priority D)
· Freestanding tower associated with Bawn Walls (not considered under threat – 

priority D)

· Top level of Friary tower (under threat – priority B but will not be considered for a 

work programme until priority A works are complete)


It is felt that initially ladder access will be sufficient. 
A2 HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF THE CLONMINES BOROUGH AND AUGUSTINIAN FRIARY
Clonmines is recognized as a particularly fine example of a “deserted medieval town” similar to places such as Newtown Jerpoint (Co.Kilkenny) and Rindoon (Co. Roscommon), and contains one of the finest collections of Later-Medieval architectural remains to be found anywhere in Ireland in the context of what was once a medieval town/borough.

Clonmines lies at the head of Bannow Bay estuary, at the confluence of the Owenduff and Corock Rivers. The site slopes down to the estuary edge from east to west, as-well as along the northern and southern edge to another stream, forming essentially a peninsular surrounded by marsh and water on three sides. The total area of town as postulated by Colfer (2002, 146) amounts to c. 29 acres, though there is the possibility that this area can be extended, based on recent fieldwork (Murphy, Forthcoming).

The claim that William Marshal granted a charter to Clonmines points to him as the founder of the town (Colfer 2002, 144). The boundary that the lands of Clonmines share with Tintern Abbey, which Marshal found in 1200, suggests that they were reserved before or contemporaneous with it (Ibid). Unfortunately documentation relating to the history of Clonmines appears to be quite rare, possibly because it was economically detached from the rest of the county at the partition of Leinster between Marshal’s daughters in 1247, following the deaths of his sons without male heirs (Colfer 2004, 38). Marshal’s granddaughter Agatha de Mortimer received the manor of Taghmon and the manor of Clonmines in county Wexford as part of her portion of Kildare.  Agatha died in 1306 and her lands with all its tenements were taken into the king’s hands (Hore 1900-11, ii, 222).  At Clonmines she held 12 acres of arable land with 8 acres of uncultivated land, plus a mill and 5 carucates held by burgesses of the town, with pleas and perquisites of the hundred court there (Ibid). 

Clonmines was still referred to as a town in the late 16th century. In the 17th century, the town had a portreeve and burgage lands ‘within and without’ it (Hore 1900-11, ii, 262). Robert Leigh of Rosegarland in 1684, however, describes the site of the town stating:

 “Clonmine is a very ancient corporation, but is now quiet ruined, there remaining only four or five ruined castles, and an old ruined church called Saint Nicholas, and a monastery also ruined which did formerly belong to the order of Saint Augustine, yet it sends two burgesses to Parliament still, and was governed by a portreeve and burgesses, but the charter and the contents thereof is worn out of memory long since” (Hore 1900-11, ii, 265-7).

“It is confidently reported that this Clonmines was a place of great trade in times past, and a harbor for shipping of indifferent bulk until the sand filled up the ancient passage near the town of Bannow, which was the destruction of both these towns, so that there is now only a narrow passage for boats on the west side of the Island, between it and the lands of Fethard; for on the east side towards the town of Bannow, where the ancient passage was, and ships used to come in, it is now a perfect dry strand and may be walked over from the island to the town” (Hore 1900-11, ii, 266).

From the 1655 Book of Survey and Redistribution of the forfeited estates we find that Clonmines had already become the property of Sir Ceasar Colclough.  The land at Clonmines and nearby Arklow made up around 92 acres of the Colclough estate the center of which being formed by the former Cistercian abbey and much of the lands of Tintern (Jeffery 1979, 1-250).  The development of the estate system in southwest Wexford led to a reorganization of agriculture and the exploitation of natural resources, evidence of which can be seen in the landscape of Clonmines today.

Up to the act of Union, the borough of Clonmines returned two MPs to the Irish Parliament (Jeffery 1979, 220).  After the Union the borough was disenfranchised and ₤15,000 compensation was awarded to Charles Loftus, marquis of Ely and Charles Tottenham, Co. Wicklow, the two members for Clonmines (Jeffery 1979, 221).  By 1835 Clonmines was made up of 1359 acres and was the property of Arthur Annesley, a descendent of the earl of Anglesey (Ibid).  Around 1850 Mr. Richard Codd acquired the lands of Clonmines and it is his descendents who remain the sole occupiers today (Hore 1900, ii, 215).

2. The Augustinian Friary

The Augustinian Friars along with the Franciscans and Dominicans have been described as the urban orders par excellence of the later Middle Ages (Schofield & Vince, 2003, 199).  In England and much of Western Europe friaries have been taken as especially reliable markers of the urban status of many medieval settlements (Dyer & Lilley, 2012, 83) (section 1.6b).  All of the Augustinian friaries founded in Ireland during the high medieval period were associated with towns (Martin, 1956, 347-84; Ó Clabaigh 2012, 18-85). However, many of the late medieval foundations were located in more rural areas (Ibid).  
In 1317 the Kavanaghs are said to have alienated a parcel of ground to the Friars Hermits of St. Augustine at Clonmines (Gwynn and Hadcock 1970, 297). The friary is located just above sea level on what appears to be reclaimed land next to the western shoreline of Bannow Bay. This type of location is not unique to Clonmines as many of the Augustinian friaries founded in Ireland and Britain during the later Middle Ages were constructed at waterside locations near towns.  The friary at Clonmines occupied a central position in the town and would have acted as a conspicuous maker of the boroughs urban status. The Augustinian friary established at Clonmines is one of at least 22 founded in Ireland during the later Middle Ages (Martin, 1956, 347-384).  Little is known about the history of the friary and detailed archaeological investigation of the site is only beginning to take place.      

According to Ware, Nicholas Fitz Nicholas, enlarged and beautified the friary in 1385 (Gwynn and Hadcock 1970, 297). In the same year permission was also given to Nicholas Fitz Nicholas to bestow the messuage and garden, which he held of John Sweetman at Clonmines, upon the prior and convent of the friars of St Augustine (Hore, 1900-11, ii, 221).  Hore (1900-11, ii, 224) suggests that the friary at Clonmines may also have been enlarged in 1399.   

In 1539 at the time dissolution, Nicholas Wadding, the prior, surrendered the friary, which consisted of a church with a tower, a dormitory, hall, three chambers, a kitchen, cemetery and a close with a small tower (Hore, 1900-11, ii, 230). 10 gardens (from which it received tithes), 4 messuages along with an area called Colyn’s land, worth 2s rent, were also held by the friary at Clonmines, which indicates that it had acted as an important land holder in the town.  Following its dissolution the friary changed ownership at least 3 times between 1539 and 1548.  Eventually, in 1622, Clonmines was declared to have been an appropriation of Tintern Abbey, and in 1626, ‘Sir Anthony Colclough of Tintern was found seized of Clonmines with other lands’ (Hore, 1900-11, ii, 263). 

A3 DESCRIPTION OF THE FRIARY, GATEHOUSE, BAWN WALL AND FORTIFIED HOUSE 
The following descriptions are taken from the Record of Monuments and Places.

Friary

The original church ruin survives in an almost complete state of preservation, except for the N and W walls of the nave. It consists of a nave (int. dims. 12.2m E-W; 7.2m N-S) with a S aisle (Wth 2.85m) separated from nave by three pointed arches. There is no evidence of a N aisle or of an entrance, and the S aisle is featureless apart from a destroyed E window and a blocked window towards the E end of the S wall. The W wall of the nave, which had a large decorated window (Grosse 1791 vol. 1, 44-5), is now destroyed. The chancel (int. dims 15.55m E-W; 7.2m N-S) has a destroyed E window, three damaged three-light ogee-headed windows in the S wall, and a destroyed window in the N wall. There is an aumbry and a destroyed triple-sedile in the S wall, and a possible tomb-niche in the N wall, which is the only evidence of burial in the church and its precinct. A tower was inserted at the E end of the nave, blocking a three-light ogee-headed window in the N wall. A pointed and chamfered granite doorway (Wth 0.67m; H 1.75m) leads to a newel stairs in the NW pier of the tower. This rises to the wall-walk of the nave and chancel and to the first storey above the vault of the tower. There are two further inaccessible stages, the topmost functioning as a belfry. The tower has a stepped parapet above with lookout platforms at the SW and NW angles.

The cloister and other building were on the N side of the church as two pairs of corbels to support the lean-to roof of the cloister garth are visible on the exterior of the N church wall while the roof-line of a pitched roof is visible at the E end of the N church wall. A resistivity survey confirms the former existence of structures here (Byrne 1994-5, 70-1). The church is at the S side of a rectangular enclosure or bawn (dims. 67m N-S; 60m E-W) represented by a tower at the NW corner and adjacent fragments of the W (L 38.5m) and N (L 10.3m) walls. The resistivity survey shows a short wall running S from the E-W wall, perhaps a buttress, but the continuation of the bawn wall further E cannot be confirmed (ibid. 71-2). There is a postern doorway (Wth 0.65m; H 1.93m) in the W wall immediately S of the tower, and a second doorway (Wth 0.88m; H 2.15m) further S. Portions of this wall fell after the severe winter of 2010-11, and a longer portion fell in 2012. 

The tower (ext. dims. 4.35m N-S; 4.1m E-W) at the NW angle of the enclosure is open-backed (int. dims 2.34m E-W; 2.2m N-S) to the E, and has granite quoins. It is featureless to the top of the E-W barrel-vault over a first floor, which is supported on corbels in the N and S walls. Access to the second floor over the vault is through a lintelled doorway (Wth 0.84m; H 2.1m) from the bawn wall-walk on the wall to the S. A newel stairs at the SW angle gives access to the third and fourth floors, each with a light in the W, N and E walls, and to the destroyed wall-walk with a look-out platform over the stairs-housing at the SW angle. The third floor was supported on corbels in the E and W walls, while at the fourth floor the joists were inserted directly into the N and S walls. The site of St Nicholas' Well, where the pattern was held on the 6th December (O'Flanagan 1933, vol. 2, 148) lies within the bawn, but the resistivity survey identified a structure, perhaps a paved area that might have been associated with the well, near the centre of the bawn (Byrne 1994-5, 71).

The principal entry to the bawn was by a gatehouse (ext. dims. 4.88m E-W; 4.4m N-S) on the S side attached to the W end of the church nave. A pointed arch (Wth 1.73m; H 2.06m) with hinges for a two-leaf gate and a slot in the roof for a portcullis leads to a barrel-vaulted entrance passage (Wth 2.1 m; L 4.05m). A destroyed doorway (Wth 1.16m) on the N side and a round-headed ed doorway of undressed voussoirs (Wth 0.75m) on the W side of the gatehouse lead to a newel stairs at the SW angle that rises to the first floor (int. dims. 4.44m E-W; 2.82m N-S). This room commands the portcullis and has a light in each wall except the E, which is the W wall of the S aisle of the church. The destroyed newel stairs continued to the second floor which was supported on corbels in the N and S walls and has a single light in each wall except the E. A possible doorway on the E wall at the second floor allowed access to the wall-walk of the S aisle of the church. 

Gatehouse

Description: The principal entry to the enclosure or bawn (WX045-012002-) was by a gatehouse (ext. dims. 4.88m E-W; 4.4m N-S) on the S side attached to the W end of the nave of the Augustinian church (WX045-012003-). A pointed arch (Wth 1.73m; H 2.06m) with hinges for a two leaf gate and a slot in the roof for a portcullis leads to a barrel-vaulted entrance passage (Wth 2.1 m; L 4.05m). A destroyed doorway (Wth 1.16m) on the N side and a round-headed doorway of undressed voussoirs (Wth 0.75m) on the W side of the gatehouse lead to a newel stairs at the SW angle that rises to the first floor (int. dims. 4.44m E-W; 2.82m N-S). This room commands the portcullis and has a light in each wall except the E, which is the W wall of the S aisle of the church. The destroyed newel stairs continued to the second floor which was supported on corbels in the N and S walls and has a single light in each wall except the E. A possible doorway on the E wall at the second floor allowed access to the wall-walk of the S aisle of the church. 

Bawn Wall

The church of the Augustinian friars (WX045-012003-) is at the S side of a rectangular enclosure or bawn (dims. 67m N-S; 60m E-W) represented by a tower at the NW corner and adjacent fragments of the W (L 38.5m) and N (L 10.3m) walls. A resistivity survey shows a short wall running S from the E-W wall, perhaps a buttress, but the continuation of the bawn wall further E cannot be confirmed (Byrne 1994-5, 71-2). There is a postern doorway (Wth 0.65m; H 1.93m) in the W wall immediately S of the tower, and a second doorway (Wth 0.88m; H 2.15m) further S. Portions of this wall fell after the severe winter of 2010-11, and a longer portion fell in 2012. 

The tower (ext. dims. 4.35m N-S; 4.1m E-W) is open-backed (int. dims 2.34m E-W; 2.2m N-S) to the E, and has granite quoins. It is featureless to the top of the E-W barrel-vault over a first floor, which is supported on corbels in the N and S walls. Access to the second floor over the vault is through a lintelled doorway (Wth 0.84m; H 2.1m) from the bawn wall-walk on the wall to the S. A newel stairs at the SW angle of the tower gives access to the third and fourth floors, each with lights in the W, N and E walls, and to the destroyed wall-walk with a look-out platform over the stairs housing at the SW angle. The third floor was supported on corbels in the E and W walls, while at the fourth floor the joists were inserted directly into the N and S walls. The site of St Nicholas' Well (WX045-012006-), where the pattern was held on 6th December (O'Flanagan 1933, vol. 2, 148) lies within the bawn.

The principal entry to the bawn was by a gatehouse (ext. dims. 4.88m E-W; 4.4m N-S) on the S side attached to the W end of the church nave. A pointed arch (Wth 1.73m; H 2.06m) with hinges for a two-leaf gate and a slot in the roof for a portcullis leads to a barrel-vaulted entrance passage (Wth 2.1 m; L 4.05m). A destroyed doorway (Wth 1.16m) on the N side and a round-headed doorway (Wth 0.75m) on the W side of the gatehouse lead to a newel stairs at the SW angle that rises to the first floor (int. dims. 4.44m E-W; 2.82m N-S). This room commands the portcullis and has a light in each wall except the E, which is the W wall of the S aisle of the church. The destroyed newel stairs continued to the second floor which was supported on corbels in the N and S walls and has a single light in each wall except the E. A possible doorway on the E wall at the second floor allowed access to the wall-walk of the S aisle of the church.
Fortified House

Situated on a slight E-facing slope c. 120m from the N-S Owenduff/Corrock river. The S gable (L at least 6.1m; H c. 7m) of a house with an attic light and the remains of a machicolation at the roof level of the SW angle. The gable is 106m S of the S wall of the Black Castle (WX045-012001-), which had a building attached on its S side. However, a remote sensing survey in the intervening area, conducted to determine if there was a connecting street of houses, was inconclusive, although some indications of floors and wall collapse where encountered (Byrne 1994-5, 72).

The above description is derived from the published 'Archaeological Inventory of County Wexford' (Dublin: Stationery Office, 1996). In certain instances the entries have been revised and updated in the light of recent research.

A4 ISSUES ARISING

Archaeological and Planning Compliance Issues

The structures are listed as Recorded Monuments on the Record of Monuments and Places which places them under the protection of the National Monuments Acts.  Prior to carrying out any works to the structures a letter of notification must be sent to: 
The Principal Officer, 
National Monuments Service, 
Department of Arts, Heritage and Gaeltacht, 
Customs House, Dublin 1. 
 It is also possible to email the notification letter to:  
nationalmonuments@ahg.gov.ie FAO: Laura Classeuy, 
giving two months notice of works to be carried out including a detailed method statement, programme etc.  No works affecting the fabric of the structure may be carried out before the two months has passed. 
No sub-surface works or earth moving is proposed in these works, there is therefore no requirement for application for an archaeological licence.

A 5 
CONSERVATION POLICY

The following professionals have been involved in developing the conservation strategy outlined in this report: 

Conservation Consultants; Southgate and Associates, Christopher Southgate, Engineer, Ciara O’Flynn, Buildings Archaeologist
Archaeologists: Paul Murphy and Arnaud de Volder
A5.1 Retaining the significance and appropriate usage of Clonmines Friary and Gatehouse

The building is currently in a ruinous state without a roof, uncapped walls, subject to tidal movements and some established vegetation causing deterioration of the structure.  Buildings do not survive without regular maintenance.  The conservation proposals outlined here are based on a policy of minimum intervention and reversibility in order to maintain the significance of the Friary and Gatehouse.  These proposals will therefore not have a negative impact on the structure.  The intention of the proposals is to stabilise the structure to halt further decay of the structure by addressing tidal erosion and its effect on stonework, the effects of weathering and preventing further damage to the structure from moisture ingress, removing vegetation and preventing its regrowth, providing a stable building for the foreseeable future. 

Inappropriate and unsympathetic repair can have a negative impact on the structure and with this in mind the following policies are recommended to preserve the significance of the complex

· Analysis of the constituent materials of historic mortars

· Develop trial mixes with aggregates that respect the original composition
· Thoroughly compact mortars and leave them recessed to match surrounding areas

· Carry out training to best practice standards for all operatives

A5.2 Conservation Philosophy and Strategy

1.  Preservation

The intention is to promote the preservation of the structure through stabilising works, vegetation removal/ treatment and remedial repair and maintenance using a policy of minimum intervention to retain the original character and significance of the structure with due regard to public safety.
2.  Recording

It is universally agreed principal of conservation that no structural work be carried out without first recording the fabric of the structure.   Because of the significance and threat to the structures at Clonmines this recording will be in the form of measured laser scan drawings, photographic and condition reports carried out or supervised by a qualified archaeologist and conservation engineer to best practice standards.
3.  Restoration

A policy of minimum intervention requires that only structurally unsound areas require rebuild for structural reasons to make the building safe.  Areas where stone is missing should be built up with modern blockwork and rendered using lime render to differentiate from the original fabric.  In some areas it may be more appropriate to use stone similar but not identical to the original.  Where this is required the stone should be of a slightly different grade or colour and mortar which is subtly discernable from the original.

A5.3 Explanation and Basis of Approach:

The purpose of this Preliminary Conservation Management Plan is to set out a conservation and development strategy in accordance with best practice national and international conservation standards as outlined in the Valetta Convention (European Convention on the Protection of Archaeological Heritage) 1992; I.C.O.M.O.S. Venice Charter, National Monuments Acts, The Heritage Council Guidelines and Guidelines published by the Department of the Environment, Heritage and Local government and the Draft Wexford Development Plan 2013-2019.  Relevant extracts are outlined below:

Venice Charter I.C.O.M.O.S 1964

Article 1:  The Concept of an historic monument embraces not only the single architectural work but also the urban or rural setting in which is found the evidence of a particular civilization, a significant development or an historic event.  This applies not only to great works of art but also to more modest works of the past, which have acquired cultural significance with the passing of time.

National Monuments Acts 1930-1997

The complex at Clonmines is listed in the Records of Monuments and Places (RMP previously known as the Sites and Monuments Record – SMR).  It is therefore a recorded monument and is protected under the National Monuments Acts.  This usually involves a minimum of two months written notice prior to the commencement of works and usually involves the supervision of a licensed or qualified archaeologist.
National Monuments Amendment Act 1994, Section 12 (3) When the owner or occupier (not being the Commissioners) of a monument or place which has been recorded under subsection (1) of this section or any person proposes to carry out, or to cause or permit the carrying out of any work at or in relation to such monument or place, he shall give notice in writing of his proposal to carry out the work to the Commissioners and shall not, except in the case of urgent necessity and with the consent of the Commissioners, commence the work for a period of two months after having given the notice.

Draft Wexford County Development Plan 2013-19 (Planning and Development Act 2000)

Article 14.5. states: 
Archaeological heritage is a non-renewable resource which helps us to understand how cultures and past societies developed. It consists of material remains in the form of sites and monuments, as well as artifacts or moveable objects.

Relevant extracts:

Objective AH01 To conserve and protect archaeological sites, monuments (including their 

settings), underwater archaeology and objects within the jurisdiction of Wexford County Council including those listed on the Record of Monuments and Places, the Register of Historic monuments or newly discovered sub-surface archaeological remains. 

Objective AH02 To protect the heritage of groups of important national monuments, inclusive 

of their contextual setting and interpretation, in the operation of development management. 

Objective AH06 To protect historic and archaeological landscapes, including battlefields, and 

promote access to such sites provided that this does not threaten the feature. 

A5.4 Schedule of Works

Please note that under the present National Monuments legislation owners are required to give two months written notice prior to works the National Monuments Section and Architectural Advisory Unit of the Department of the Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht clearly outlining the methodology of repairs, products to be used and professional team involved.

Stage 1:  Notification to Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht
Write to The Principal Officer, National Monuments Service, Department of the Arts, Heritage and Gaeltacht, Customs House, Dublin 1 (as mentioned above in A4) giving  two months notice of works to be carried out including a detailed method statement, programme etc.   
Stage 2:  Vegetation removal and Assessment of the 
Vegetation treatment consisting of pruning back of leafy material, surface spray and root treatment consisting of the application of “Root Out” or similar approved to all areas of the structure.  An archaeologist and engineer should be present at this time to carry out an initial inspection of the condition of stonework to assess stability prior to treatment and record loose stonework and advise on methods of its removal or otherwise.  Testing of the structure for loose material should be carried out from top level.  Please note removal of roots or stems is not recommended. Any roots of significant scale should be drilled and a copper tube inserted for further treatment.
1. Archaeological recording supervised by a suitably qualified archaeologist of the structure including laser scan, measured drawings and a photographic record.

2. Mortar testing for historical record and to develop trial mixes and sample panels
Stage 3:  Stabilisation of the Structure – note no works can be carried out prior to two months notification to the Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht (DOAHG)
Once two months have lapsed after notification to the DOEHG, vegetation roots and tendrils can be removed allowing the structure to be assessed properly both archaeologically and structurally.  It is important that a suitably qualified archaeologist be present at this stage.   It is expected that the schedule of works will be updated at this stage as previously undetected faults are revealed as vegetation is removed.
Conservative, phased, reversible repairs will be carried out on a minimum intervention policy and will only consist of works to stabilise the structure and prevent further decay.  A full schedule, outlined on measured drawings is dependent on the prior removal of vegetation but should consist generally of:-

· Minimum patch re-build where necessary using similar but not identical stonework and render so that repairs are distinguishable from original.  Methods should be fully reversible

· Structural deep  patch pointing where required using 3.5 NHL lime mortar mix using 5mm grits with a mix of 10-15mm flint and washed stone together with slate pinnings based on mortar analysis and careful visual inspection of surrounding areas
· Capping of walls using NHL5 lime mortar  capping,

· Thorough long-term vegetation removal and treatment,

· Repairs to window opes – 
· insertion of reversible supports to window tracery on South elevation
· structural pointing to cut limestone window lining lancet window on East elevation

The work to tower roof parapets will be facilitated by a platform either in timber or lightweight concrete block and plank system. This will be reversible and sit on a ledge formed for the original timber structure. This will allow annual inspection.
	
	Schedule of works
	 
	 
	 
	 
	Cost

	
	 
	
	
	
	
	
	 
	Estimate

	
	Year 
	Priority
	Description
	 
	Condition issues
	Inc. VAT

	
	2015
	A
	Vegetation treatment
	Annual maintenance to complex
	2000

	
	2015
	A
	East wall and South East corner
	Tidal erosion allows water to flow into the building and take a short cut
	8000

	
	 
	 
	Rebuild and grout stone
	through the wall. This allows weakening of the base of the wall with 
	 

	
	 
	 
	 
	
	
	possibility of overall collapse.
	 

	
	2015
	A
	Structural repointing SE end 
	South easterly winds causing erosion of surface mortar to the extent
	2500

	
	 
	 
	 of South Wall
	that pinnings dislodged and risk of spalling masonry
	 

	
	2015
	A
	Stabilisation of window lining
	This cut stonework lining to East gable lancet window although not 
	2000

	
	 
	 
	to East window by pointing
	structural is historically significant and in danger of collapse
	 

	
	2015
	A
	Temporary support to 
	Mullions are missing and this stone is in immediate danger of collapse
	200

	
	 
	 
	Tripartite lancet windows
	 
	 
	 

	
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	TOTAL WORK 2015
	14700

	
	2016
	A
	Vegetation treatment
	Annual maintenance to complex
	2000

	
	2016
	B
	Construct access platform to 
	Carefully rebuild disturbed stones in original position to top parapet and 
	5000

	
	 
	 
	top level of tower
	provide an NHL lime capping. Ensure parapet strong enough to allow for 
	 

	
	 
	 
	 
	
	 
	maintenance from  a Bosuns chair
	8000

	
	2016
	B
	Reversible support to 
	The window mullions are missing and we propose a pair of 60mm  stainless
	 

	
	 
	 
	tripartite lancet windows to 
	steel columns acid etched to a very dark grey colour to support
	3800

	
	 
	 
	South wall
	 
	two windows.
	 

	
	 
	 
	 
	
	 
	 
	 
	 

	
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	TOTAL WORK 2016
	18800

	
	2017
	C
	Vegetation treatment
	Annual maintenance to complex
	2000

	
	2017
	C
	Structural repointing of tower
	The stonework pinnings to upper levels are missing causing danger of 
	12000

	
	 
	 
	 
	
	 
	spalling masonry and a best practice repoint is recommended
	 

	
	 
	 
	 
	
	 
	 
	 
	 

	
	 
	 
	 
	
	 
	 
	 
	 

	
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	TOTAL WORK 2017
	14000

	
	2018
	D
	Capping and grouting to all remaining Friary walls, tower and 
	Carry out careful assessment of stone wall tops and rebuild loose stone 
	 

	
	 
	 
	Fortified house gable
	Grouting and mortar capping required to prevent deterioration
	18000

	
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	TOTAL WORK 2018
	18000


Table 1:   Schedule of Works
Stage 4:  Conservation Management Plan 2018 onwards

Based on the feedback 2015-2018 consideration should be given to the long-term maintenance strategy of the structure to prevent its falling into disrepair in the future.  The most effective way of ensuring the survival of a structure is a comprehensive Conservation Management Plan which will be updated following the works to allow for a long – term maintenance strategy.  
In addition a  suggested scope of future works is intended to address safety and stability of the structure and in so doing the causes of deterioration have also been addressed. In the future consideration may have to be given to the following: -

· Maintenance pointing 

· Bi-annual monitoring and treatment of vegetation

· Regular inspections of  tidal patterns and drainage

We would stress the need for regular maintenance inspections reducing to bi-annual inspections once the work is complete.

A5.5
Repair and Conservation Specification

VEGITATION REMOVAL 

TREATING MINOR VEGITATION DURING THE GROWING SEASON General areas

USE ROOT OUT will have already been carried out


   REMOVAL OF VEGITATION TO ACCESS STUMPS AND ROOTS

· This operation involves carefully removing loose vegetation allowing roots to project during the treatment stage, which should be carried out 

· It is not generally recommended to remove root growth deep into the walls rather to kill it by ystem which absorbs poison into the plant, attempts to mechanically remove roots under a structure such as this and result in the weakening of the stonework.

Pare back bark or inject holes into stump in accordance with manufacturer’s recommendations. Pack with Root out crystals at a rate of ½ oz to 1” diameter of trunk

Leave roots projecting until the last stage of work

Cover with plastic to stop sap or rain from washing crystals away during works and remove and point at last stage. Apply copper nail to stump prior to pointing

POINTING AND CONSERVING MASONRY

	

	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

	
	Lime

Use NHL 3.5 Generally

Use NHL 5.0 for Horizontal weathering surfaces or high exposure

Fine aggregate: Graded washed sand plus washed shell where specified

1 part lime to 

2 fine aggregate

Medium  aggregate:

Local red sandstone grit

5mm washed

No fines

Course aggregate

Sharp stones mixed to match existing 

30-10mm 

No fines

Shell 

Crushed f shell well washed to CHSA approval where evident historically

Fine Sand

Well graded general sand for mortar use to spec

Pinnings

100-50mm stone from a local source to match existing masonry


	
	
	
	
	

	
	
	
	
	


	 
	Trial
	Trial
	 
	 

	Mortar Type
	Mix proportion
	Mix proportion
	Lime Type
	Useage

	 
	Lime:aggregate
	Lime:fine aggregate
	 
	 

	M1
	1 Lime:  2    agg
	1 Lime: 2  sand
	NHL 5
	Cappings generally

	M2
	1 Lime:  2.5 agg
	1 Lime: 2  sand
	NHL 5
	Sloping surfaces of walls

	M3
	1 Lime:  2    agg
	1 Lime: 2  sand
	NHL 3.5
	Brickwork or fine joints in stone

	M4
	1 Lime:  2.5 agg
	1 Lime: 2  sand
	NHL 3.5
	Small joints in masonry

	M5
	1 Lime : 3.3 agg
	1 Lime: 2  sand
	NHL 3.5
	Medieval Walls Type 1

	M6
	1 Lime : 2.9 agg
	1 Lime: 2  sand
	NHL 3.5
	Medieval Walls Type 2


Note M1 is typical capping mix

M2 is as M1 but with grit added on site for exposed ledges 
M3 is a basic pointing mix

M3 to M6 are all similar and only vary in size of grit used in final pointing mortar for matching.

AGGREGATES

	AGGREGATES
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Type
	Description
	
	
	
	 

	 
	 
	 
	 
	 
	 

	A
	30-10MM Sandstone/Limestone/ Flint etc
	 
	 

	B
	5mm grit red sandstone
	
	
	 

	C
	General well graded sand to specification
	
	 

	D
	Shell
	
	 


	
	Aggregates
	 
	 
	 
	 

	Mortar Mix
	A
	B
	C
	D
	Pinnings

	
	Course
	Medium
	Fine
	Shell
	No /m

	M1
	0
	0
	100%
	0
	0

	M2
	0
	20%
	80%
	0
	0

	M3
	0
	0
	100%
	0
	0

	M4
	0
	20%
	80%
	0
	0

	M5
	20%
	20%
	60%
	 
	10

	M6
	20%
	10%
	60%
	10%
	10


Grading limits for mortar aggregates
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Grading limits for spalls (pinnings)
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A6
CONCLUSION

Southgate Associates were appointed to carry out a buildings conservation report to provide information for a Preliminary Conservation Management Plan and conservation strategy for emergency conservation works and to provide information for notifying the Department of Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht of the intention to carry out remedial repair works.  The conservation recommendations of this report reflect an approach to the conservation of the building using a policy of minimum intervention which will not negatively affect the character of the structure. 

The building has suffered seriously in its derelict state and has resulted in the loss of the roof and some structural stability caused by tidal erosion, weather-related moisture ingress into the mass walls and the establishment of vegetation on and in the walls.  The entire complex of structures is a Recorded Monument and is protected under the National Monuments Acts and should be repaired using best practice conservation techniques with a policy of minimum intervention and be fully reversible.  We recommend that the conservation of the building be carried out on a phased basis as outlined above with priority given to stabilising the structure by addressing tidal erosion on the Friary, supporting window tracery on the Friary, re-pointing Eastern window arch of the Friary, capping the walls and structural, patch re-pointing. Further consideration should be given to the long-term maintenance of the structures to ensure minimal loss or damage of historical fabric.
SOUTHGATE ASSOCIATES
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Condition of Complex
1.0  Bawn Walls 

The Bawn walls are suffering from deterioration at the top of the wall from Ivy and vegetation establishment. The walls are not in critical condition for the following reasons.

Vegetation  Establishment

Ivy and tree roots cause the most damage and where Ivy in particular is established within the structure of the core of the wall it has a capacity to do serious structural damage. In the Bawn walls ivy establishment appears to be substantially at the top of the wall. 

Recommendations are to treat Ivy early in 2015 cutting the root structure where connected to the ground and applying a spray of brushwood killer in the growing season. At this time the wall should be carefully inspected and any loose stones removed or rebidded. The wall is earmarked for capping work in 2019 (priority D)

Capping

The wall should be capped in NHL 5.0 lime mortar: sand. The addition of stones in the capping could be considered if the capping is visible. This is priority D to be carried out in 2019
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Fig.  1  Example of part of the Bawn Wall, requiring  re-capping, ivy treatment.

1.1  Corner tower associated with Bawn walls

This was not inspected in detail during the survey since it did not appear to be under serious threat compared with the Friary. 

Recommendations are to treat Ivy early in 2015 cutting the root structure where connected to the ground and applying a spray of brushwood killer in the growing season. At this time the wall should be carefully inspected and any loose stones removed or rebidded. The tower is earmarked for capping work in 2019 (priority D).
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Fig. 2.  West Elevation Corner tower of Bawn Wall.  Considerable ivy growth requiring treatment.  Masonry can only be fully assessed once vegetation is removed.

[image: image5.jpg]



Fig. 3.  North elevation of Bawn wall Tower.
2.0  Fortified House freestanding gable wall

The construction of the wall appears reasonable robust and the gable does not appear to be under immediate threat. Careful inspection and maintenance is recommended in 2015-2018 with capital works to consolidate the top of the wall earmarked for 2019 once the friary is stabilised, 

This will involve providing a mortar capping with some grouting to consolidate eroded mortar at the top of the wall. Any loose stones should be carefully rebuilt in NHL .5 mortar and a mortar capping provided in NHL 5 mortar. During the repair of masonry lime grouting trials are recommended to consolidate eroded mortar. This should be carried out using a small stirrup pump and a band of consolidated masonry approximately 500mm deep should be provided at the top of the wall.
[image: image6.jpg]



Fig. 4 Southern Gable of Fortified House.

3.0   Friary
The construction and phasing of the Friary walls is covered in the Archaeological report. Of particular interest is the fact that the East Gable wall and East end of the South wall is constructed on piers below floor level to the foundations and there is an arched vault rather like a crypt below the South East corner. There are two possibilities for this form of construction.

Construction details
The first possibility is that the ground sloped away so such an extent that to save on masonry construction that the land was filled as the piers were built up from the original level as construction proceeded.  It appears that the walls only are vaulted and the floor is bearing on the ground. There is no sign of settlement to the walls or the floor structure and the construction technique was completely adequate.  

The second possibility is that the piers were excavated from a previously filled site. 
[image: image7.jpg]



Fig. 5 View from North of Clonmines Friary (background) with Bawn wall and associated corner tower in the middleground.
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Fig. 6.  General view of East Gable of Friary with arches at foundation level visible.  These are springing from masonry piles below ground level.

Tidal erosion

Notwithstanding the good quality original construction the arches and piers are suffering from tidal erosion due to rising water levels and the church floods in extreme tidal conditions. The water enters substantially from the East end. Whilst the tide attacks from the East end  causing the exterior stone to be eroded there is also a danger of the water taking a short cut on exiting through the wall at the East end. This swell effect causes severe damage and could result in catastrophic failure if not addressed immediately.

Firstly the tide and swell should be carefully observed to determine where water is passing through the structure. 150mm diameter weep holes should be drilled and sleeved with clay pipe to allow water to escape quickly at designed positions. The remaining area of wall should be rebuilt at low tides with NHL 5.0 “Prompt” eminently hydraulic lime mortar and also grouted. Pointing should be carried out to Southgate Associates specification to match existing and original textures. The wall should then be grouted up to ground floor level with NHL 5 “Prompt” introduced through a hand stirrup pump. Prior to works the wall should be carefully recorded using laser scanning. A sample panel should be constructed during a training day. Trial mixes should be developed on the basis of simple mortar analysis.  The reason for mortar analysis is to primarily discover the grading and type of aggregates used historically. The most likely source of material is the local river bed!
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Fig. 7.  Example of varying grit sizes in original mortar mix.

We carried out similar work to a bathing house in Killala this year which was highly successful. The urgency of this work cannot be overstated since the failure of this type of structure is non linear. There is no reason why a breach in a load bearing masonry pier could not suddenly deteriorate causing risk of entire collapse of part of the structure. For this reason these repairs are category A and should be carried out in 2015.
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Fig. 8.  Example of tidal erorsion at ground level where water enters the building through masonry.

Cracks in East gable and cut lancet window stonework
Significant structural cracking exists at each side of the springing point of the East Gable lancet window. Originally caused by arch thrusts, the opened crack fills with debris and moisture and there is presumably a tendency for frost to develop pressure pushing the crack gradually wider and wider. The foundation structure is not stiff enough to resist this pressure.
[image: image11.jpg]



Fig. 9 .  East Gable general view.

In the first instance the cracks should be dry packed with NHL 3.5 lime mortar and monitored. Later if the movement persists consideration could be given to providing a 20mm stainless steel tie rod. We think that the filling of cracks initially should be sufficient.

Further work is required at this time to repair stone on the inside face of the East gable and to provide a mortar capping together with grouting and structural pointing.
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Fig. 10.  Cracking at South end of  East gable of the Friary at springing point of lancet arch.

[image: image13.jpg]



Fig. 11.  Cracking at springing point of lancet arch on north end of the East gable of the Friary.

The cut limestone lining to the East lancet window although non structural is in danger of collapse and is of historical importance. This should be pointed in situ in its deflected position. Alternatively it could be carefully dismantled and rebuilt. In our opinion the dismantling and rebuilding could be complex and a thorough pointing and packing operation is considered the most appropriate.
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Fig. 12.  East gable lancet window, moulded stonework breaking away from lancet arch.

Three Tripartite lancet window heads to South Gable

These have lost 2 pairs of mullions and should be propped with acro props in 2015 followed by replacement with stainless steel mullions in 2016. The steel mullions should be etched with acid to provide a dark grey colour to blend in with the original texture. The intervention will be discernible but respect the visual significance of the Friary. A sample should be produced for approval in 2015.
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Fig. 13.  South Wall Window 2 (middle window), masonry mullions have been lost, window tracery unsupported and in danger of becoming loose and falling off.
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Fig. 14.  South Gable Friary, Window 3 (Easternmost), as above.
Erosion to East face of South Wall and Tower walls
The driving rain and wind travelling upriver from the South West has caused pinnings and mortar to be eroded from  the East end pier of the South wall. This should be deep pointed for structural reasons in accordance with the specification. Pointing should be recessed and match the texture of the original as mentioned before. This work is Priority A and should be carried out in 2015.
Similar pointing is required to the tower walls priority C in 2017
[image: image17.jpg]



Fig. 15.  South wall, 3 windows currently without stone mullions require support.  Stonework on this elevation has been especially weathered by prevailing winds and rain.
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Fig. 16.  Masonry joints are especially weathered on this elevation and require, patch pointing as per specifications.
Tower parapet stonework

The tower parapets are highly eroded and in danger of collapse. Ideally these should be repaired and rebuilt straight away. However provided access is limited around the tower for Health and Safety reasons the work here is planned for 2017 and has been provided with priority B for 2016. The top 1.0m is at risk and has been recommended for laser recording.

Rebuilding could take place from a temporary access platform in timber or lightweight precast concrete beam and block components. This would be reversible. In our opinion concrete is preferable to permit loading of stonework and to avoid deterioration. This would allow for routine maintenance and inspection and protect the inside of the tower from future erosion. Access can be obtained via a spiral staircase and the vaulted ringing chamber which is a later vaulted structure insertion. It would also provide a location to view the overall complex.
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Fig. 17.  Noth elevation of Friary tower.  Loose masonry visible.  The top 1m is especially in danger of continuing spalling and will need to be consolidated as per the specification from a temporary platform placed internally.

Remaining Friary walls

After 3 years of productive maintenance and Ivy treatment consideration should be given to consolidation of the top of the remaining walls using the mortar capping and grouting techniques outlined above.
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Fig. 18.  View of existing vegetation harmless grass on North wall of the sanctuary of the Friary.
Although the Friary is in reasonable condition generally for a building of this type and age there are specific areas requiring attention to protect the nationally significant structures as the table above shows (Table 1, A.5.4.). 
Chris Southgate MA MIStuctE FIEI CEng 

Conservation Engineer
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